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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited

My opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and the separate financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position in which the equity method is applied and the separate
financial position of Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited (the Company) as at 31 December 2020, and its
financial performance in which the equity method is applied and the separate financial performance and its cash
flows in which the equity method is applied and the separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Thai Financial Reporting Standards (TFRS).

What | have audited
The financial statements in which the equity method is applied and the separate financial statements comprise:

s the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2020;

s  the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate statements of comprehensive income
for the year then ended,;

« the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate statements of changes in equity
for the year then ended;

o the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate statements of cash flows for the
year then ended; and

« the notes to the statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing (TSAs). My responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements in which the equity method
is applied and separate financial statements section of my report. | am independent of the Company in accordance
with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Federation of Accounting Professions that are
relevant to my audit of the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial
statements, and | have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. | believe
that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance in my audit of the
financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements of the current period.
| determine one key audit matter: Recognition of revenue from network installation service. The matter was addressed
in the context of my audit of the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial
statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and | do not provide a separate opinion on the matter.
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Key audit matte

Recognition of revenue from network installation service

Refer to accounting policy No. 6.17, revenue recognition.

The Company recognises revenue from service income in
accordance with term of each service contract with
customers. Revenue is recognised when the Company
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring services
to customers over time.

The Company recognises revenue from network installation
service over time by using output method on the basis
of measurement of the value of services completed and
transferred to customer relative to total value of service
promised under the contract with customers and included
methods such as surveys of performance completed to
date.

| focused on these areas because:

1) The amount of revenue from network installation service
is significant, representing 40% of total revenue. The
Company provides network installation service nationwide.
This service comprises small projects and large projects
for which installation period takes more than 1 year
and;

2) The recognition of revenue from network installation
service required significant management's judgements
when evaluating the value of services completed and
transferred to customer relative to total value of service,
which directly affects the accuracy of the revenue from
network installation service recognised in the financial
statements.

Emphasis of matter

udit matter

low my audit addressed the key 2

| performed the following procedures to evaluate the
recognition of revenue from network installation service
which included:

1)  Understanding the process and accounting freatment
as well as internal controls relating to recording
contract revenue and the key estimates and judgements
made by management. In addition, | performed testing
key internal controls over revenue and receivable
cycle.

2) Reading and understanding contract with customers
to assess the appropriateness of performance
obligations identified, process to determine the
transaction price and allocation of the transaction
price to performance obligations.

3) Examining the documents supporting for calculation
of value of services completed and transferred to
customer relative to total value of service promised
under the contract with customers.

4) Assessing the accuracy of performance completed
to date relative to the monthly progress of work by
engineer.

5) Performing site visits of certain projects and observing
the method used by engineer to determine the
progress of work.

| found that the determination of value of services
completed and transferred to customer relative to total value
of service promised under the contract with customers
relating to the recognition of revenue from network
installation service were appropriate and consistent with
the evidence obtained.

| draw attention to note 6.6 and 6.9 to the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and the
separate financial statements, which describes the accounting policies in relation to adopting the temporary
exemptions announced by the Federation of Accounting Professions to relieve the impact from COVID-19 for the
reporting periods ending between 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020. My opinion is not modified in respect to
this matter.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate
financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. The annual report is expected to be made available to me after
the date of this auditor's report.

My opinion on the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements does
not cover the other information and | will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial
statements, my responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements in which the
equity method is applied and separate financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

When | read the annual report, if | conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, | am required to communicate
the matter to the audit committee.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and
separate financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in which the equity
method is applied and separate financial statements in accordance with TFRS, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements in which the equity method is applied
and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intends to
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Company's financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and
separate financial statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements in which the equity
method is applied and separate financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with TSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with TSAs, | exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. | also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements in which the equity method is
applied and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company'’s internal control.

o  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, | am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements in
which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements in which the equity
method is applied and separate financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financing information of the equity-accounted
investees of the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements in which the equity method is
applied. | am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the financial statements
in which the equity method is applied. | remain solely responsible for my audit opinion.
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I communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that | identify during my audit.

| also provide the audit committee with a statement that | have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on my independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, | determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. | describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, | determine that a
matter should not be communicated in my report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Ltd.

(T T s

Pongthavee Ratanakoses

Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 7795
Bangkok

24 February 2021



interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2020

Equity Method Separate
financial statements financial statements
2020 2019 2020 2019
Notes Baht Baht Baht Baht
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 11 70,271,040 287,560,458 70,271,040 287,560,458
Trade and other receivables, net 12 641,458,780 405,092,812 641,458,780 405,092,912
Work in process 157,661,102 215,987,094 167,661,102 215,987,094
Shert-term borrowings to a joint veniure 326 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 “
Accrued revenue from network
installation service 14.1 1,216,503,522  1,371,052,738  1,216,503,522  1,371,052,739
Retention receivables 11,466,650 21,356,074 11,466,650 21,356,074
Revenue Department receivable 146,534,928 179,664,071 146,534,928 179,664,071
Total current assets 2,245,806,022  2,480,713,348  2,245,896,022  2,480,713,348
Non-current assets
Restricted cash at financial institutions 50,592,755 102,000 50,592 755 102,000
Accrued revenue from network rendering 14.1 506,298,000 181,334,763 506,298,008 181,334,763
Investment in a joint venture 15 30,703,833 38,022,776 69,999,900 69,998,900
Fixed assets and {elecommunication
networks, net 16 3,838,986,8090  3,859,597,708  3,838,986,899  3,859,597,709
Intangible assets, net 18 25,452,426 25,856,180 25,452 426 25,856,180
Right-of-use assets, net 17 355,961,227 - 355,861,227 -
Deferred tax assets, net 19 . 2,487,853 - 2,487,853
Other nen-current assets 25,027,869 33,752,089 25,027,869 33,752,089
Total non-current assets 4,833,023,018  4,141,153,370  4,872,319,085  4,173,130,494
Total assets 7,078,919,040 6621,866,718 7,118,215,107  6,653,843,842
Director Director

The notes to the financial statements on pages 12 to 60 are an integral part of this financlal statements.




Interlink Telecom Pubtic Company Limited
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2020

Notes

Equity Method

financial statements

Separate

financial statements

2020
Baht

2019
Baht

2020
Baht

2019
Baht

Liabilities and equity
Current liahilities

Short-term borrowings

from financial institulions, net 20
Trade and other payables 21
Current portion of [ease liabilities, net 22
Current portion of long-term borrowings

from a financial institution, net 23
Advance received from network

installation service 14.3
Income tax payabile

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities, net 22
Long-term borrowings

from a financial instilution, net 23
Deferred tax liabllities, net 19
Advance received from long-term network

installation service 14.3
Employee benefit obligalions 24

Total non-current liabilities

Total Hlabilities

Equity

Share capital
Authorised share capital
1,500,000,000 ordinary shares
at par value of Baht 0.50 each
{2019: 1,250,000,000 ordinary shares
at par value of Baht 0.50 each) 25

Issued and paid-up share capital
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares
at paid-up of Baht 0.50 each 25
Premium on paid-up share capital 25
Retained earnings
Appropriated - legal reserve 27
Unappropriated

Total eguity

Total Habilities and equity

The notes to the financial statements on pages 12 to 80 are an integral part of this financial statements.

2,175,174,406
800,776,587
98,151,406

348,847,208
20,104,485

1,714,152
36,765,110

2,052,979,102
808,826,122
26,957,257

404,154,214
21,903,183

913,498
23,178,576

2,175,174,408
800,776,587
98,161,405

348,847,298
20,104,485

1,714,162
36,765,110

2,0562,979,102
808,826,122
26,957,257

404,154,214
21,903,183

913,498
23,178,576

3,481,533,443

3,338,811,852

3,481,533,443

3,338,911,952

214,647,809

1,461,295,672
8,705,497

5,060,202
14,954,420

40,324,549

1,507,578,969

11,526,044
11,825,397

214,647,809

1,461,295672
8,705,497

5,080,202
14,954,420

40,324,549

1,607,578,969

11,626,044
11,825,397

1,704,663,600

1,671,254,959

1,704,663,600

1,571,254,959

5,186,197,043

4,910,166,911

5,186,197,043

4,810,166,911

750,000,000 625,000,000 750,000,000 625,000,000
500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000 500,000,000
814,042,815 814,842,915 814,942,915 814,842,915

35,670,000 26,110,000 35,670,000 26,110,000
542,100,082 370,646,892 581,405,149 402,624,016

1,892,721,987

1,711,699,807

1,932,018,064

1,743,676,931

7,078,919,040

6,621,866,718

7,118,215,107

6.653,843,842




Interiink Telecom Public Company Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Equity Method Separate
financial statements financial statements
2020 2018 2020 2019
Notes Baht Baht Baht Baht
Service income from network rendering 1,111,142,371 848,859,633 1,111,142,371 848,859,633
Service income from network instaltation service 823,967,278 4,387,528,653 823,967,278 1,387,528,6583
Service income from data center space service 85,420,872 93,913,543 85,420,872 93,913,543
Gain on long-term borrowings modification 23 18,677,268 - 18,677,268 -
Other income 19,682,886 16,291,589 19,682,886 16,291,589
Total revenue 28 2,058,800,675 2,346,593,418  2,058,800,675 2,346,503, 418
Cost of network rendering (800,170,504} (649,831,757} {800,170,504) {649,831,757)
Cost of network installation service (703,838,900} {1,1563,141,747) {703,838,900) (1.153,141,747}
Cost of data center space service (54,250,458} (58,377,334) (64,250,458} (58,377,334)
Service expenses (48,828,057} (54,191,485) (48,828,067) (54,191,485}
Administrative expenses (68,406,211} (61,392,802) (58,406,211} (61,392,802)
Finance cosls {154,233,212) (130,810,594) (154,233,212) (130,810,594}
Total expense (1,819,727,342)  (2,107,745,819)  (1,819,727,342) (2,107,745,819)
Proflt before share of losses from
investment in a Joint venture and income tax 239,163,333 238,847,599 239,163,333 238,847,599
Share of losses from investment in a joint venture 15 (7,318,943} (10,086,874) , - -
Profit before income tax 30 231,844,390 228,760,725 236,163,333 238,847,599
Income tax 30 (48,112,012} (47.760,635) (48,112,012} (47,760,635)
Net profit for the year 183,732,378 181,000,090 181,051,321 191,086,964
Other comprehensive income (loss)
item that will not he reciassified to profit or loss
subsequently
- Remeasurements of employee benefit
obligations, net of tax 30 - (2,232,638) - {2,232,638)
Other comprehenslive loss, net of tax - (2,232,638) - {2,232,638)
Total comprehensive income for the year 183,732,378 178,767,452 191,051,321 188,854,326
Earnings per share
Baslc earnings per share 3t 0.18 0.18 0.19 0.1¢
Diluted earnings per share 31 0.18 0.18 0.19 0.19

The notes to the financial statements on pages 12 to 60 are an integral part of this financial statements.
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interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Equity Methed

financial statements

Separate

financial statements

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments to reconcile profit before
income tax to net cash from operations:
- Depreciation and amortisation
- Amortisation of prepaid expenses
- Share of losses from investment in a joint venture
- Unrealised (gain) loss on exchange rate
- (Revarsal) expected credit losses
(2019; doutibul accounts under TAS 101)
- Reversal of warranty of engineering
sefvice expenses
- Interest income
- Finance costs
- Employee benefil expenses
- Gain on long-term borrowings modification

Cash flows before changes in operating assets
and ltabilities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
- Trade and other receivables
- Work in process
- Accrued revenue from network installation service
- Retention receivables
- Other current assetls
- Accrued revenue from network rendering
- Other non-current assets
- Trade and other payables
- Advance teceived from network instalation service
- Other current Eabilities

Cash generated from (used in} operations
- Income tax paid

Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities

2020 2019 2020 2019

Notes Baht Baht Baht Baht
231,844,390 228,760,725 239,163,333 238,847,599

16, 17,18 299,343,737 226,364,413 209,343,737 226,364,413
27,676,630 22,376,998 27,676,630 22,376,996

15 7,318,943 10,086,874 - -
(48,755) 91,873 (48,755) 91,873

12 {1,695,251) 712,302 (1,695,251) 712,362
- (58,324) - {58,324)

(648,786) (501,175) {648,786) {501,175)

154,233,212 130,810,594 154,233,212 30,810,594

24 3,129,023 3,212,092 3,128,023 3,212,092
23 {18,677,268) - (18,677,268) -
702,475,875 621,856,370 702,475,875 621,856,370
{266,197,516) (63,535,035}  (266,197,516) (63,535,035)
58,325,992 (114,795,853} 68,326,892 (114,795,853)
154,649,217 {551,083,630) 154,649,217 (551,083,630)

9,889,424 6,931,452 ©,888,424 6,931,452

31,977,018 (39,243,476) 31,877.019 (38,243,476)
(324,963,246) {148,733,567) (324,963,246) (148,733,567}
8,724,220 (12,731,370) 8,724,220 {12,731,370)

22,766,559 {7,790,765)} 22,766,559 (7.790,765)

(8,264,540) 7,597,619 (8,264,540) 7,597,619

13,686,534 6,205,063 13,588,534 6,205,063
402,869,538 (295,323,192) 402,869,538 (295,323,192)
(35,608,252) (34,458,865) {35,609,252) {34,458,865)
367,260,286 {329,782,057) 367,260,286  (329,782,057)

The notes to the financial statements on pages 12 to 60 are an integral part of this financial statements,
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interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Equity Method

financial statements

Separate

financial statements

2020 2019 2020 2019
Notes Baht Baht Baht Baht
Cash flows from investing activities
- Payments for restricted cash at financial institutions (50,490,755) {2,000) {50,490,755) (2.000)
- Payments for short-term borrowings to a joint venture (2,000,000) - (2,000,000) -
- Payments for purchase of fixed assels and
telecommunication nelworks (326,525,443} (607,079,885) (328,525,443) {607,079,885)
- Payments for borrowing cost capitalisation of
fixed assets and telecommunication netwarks (12,441,000} (14,352,187} (12,441,000) (14,352,197}
- Payments for purchases of intangible assels {2,090,000) (2,110,000) {2,090,000) (2,110,000}
- Interest received 648,786 501,175 648,786 501,175
Net cash used in investing activities (392,898,412)  (623,042,907) (392,898,412)  (623,042,907)
Cash flows from financing activities
- Proceads from shori-lerm borrowings from
financiat institutions 20 1,899,266,273  2,285,951,276  1,899,266,273  2,285,951,276
- Payments for short-term borrowings from T
financial institutions 20 (1,777,479,050}. (1,269,070,000) (1,777,479,050) {1,269,070,000)
- Paymenits for deferred flnancing fee s
of shori-term borrowings from financial institutions 20 (616,250) (1,897,000} (616,250} (1,897,000}
- Payments for fease liabilities 22 (79,589,594) {29,173,860) (79,589,594} (29,173,860)
- Proceeds from long-tarm borrowings from a
financial institution 23 65,337,000 583,500,000 65,337,000 583,500,000
- Payments for long-term borrowings from a
financial institution 23 (147,829,720) (380,387,954) (147,829,720} (380,387,954)
- Payments for deferred financing fee
of long-term borrowings from a financial institution 23 - (1,810,000 - {1,810,000)
- Interest paid (150,739,951)  (128,468,172)  (150,739,951)  {129,468,172)
- Dividend paid - (56,997,805) - (56,997 ,805)

Net cash generated from {used In) financing activities

Net increased (decreased) in cash and cash equivalents
Beginning balance

Ending balance i1
Non-cash transactions
- Account payable - purchases of fixed assets and
telecommunication networks

- Purchases of fixed assets and telecommunication
networks under lease contracts

(191,651,292)

1,000,646 485

{191,6561,202)

1,000,646,485

{217,280,418) 47,821,621 (217,289,418) 47,821,521
287,560,458 239,738,937 287,560,458 239,738,837
706,271,040 287,560,458 70,271,040 287,560,458
168,483,148 202,183,485 168,483,148 202,183,485
168,592,933 53,372,887 168,592,933 53,372,887

The notes {o the financial statements on pages 12 to 60 are an integral part of this financial statements.
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Intertink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

interink Telecom Public Company Limited (the Company) is a public limited company, incorporated and resident in Thailand.
The address of its registered office is 48/66 Soi Rung Reung, Ratchadapisek Road, Samsennok, Huaykwang, Bangkok.

The Company was listed on mai.

The principal business operations of the Company are to provide telecommunication services nationwide fiber optic network
and to provide data center space services such as co-location service, cloud computing service and disaster recovery
service. ‘

On 8 May 2012, the Company obtained Telecommunication license type 3 from National Broadcasting and Telecommunication
Commission (NBTC) in which, allowed the Company to own the network and rendering service on such network.
The period of license is 15 years.

This financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate firancial statements were authorised for issue
by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2021.

Corohavirus Disease 2019 outbreak

The outbreak of Corenavirus Disease 2019 (‘COVID-19") in early 2020 has adverse effects on operating results
particularly on most business and industries. The Company is now paying close attention to the development of the
COVID-19 situation and its impact on the business, performing relevant assessments and taking proactive measures
for remediation.

The financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS") and the financial reporting requirements issued under
the Securities and Exchange Act.

The financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statemenls have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except for cerlain accounts as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Thai generally accepted accounting principles requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying
the Company's accounting policies and to disclose the areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements as disclosed in Note 8.

An English version of the financial statements in which the equity method is applied and separate financial statements
have been prepared from the financial statements that are in the Thal language. In the event of a conflict or a difference in
interpretation between the two languages, the Thai language financial statements shall prevail.
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

4.1

R

New and amended financial reporting standards that are effective for accounting period beginning on or after
1 January 2020 and have significant impacts to the Company

a)

b)

¢)

d)

e}

f)

Financial instruments

The new financial standards relate to financial instruments are:

TAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation

TFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

TFRS 9 Financial Instruments

TFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net invesiment in a Foreign Operation

"“The new financial reporiing standards related to financial instruments introduce new classification and

measurement requirements for financial instrumenis as well as provide derecognition guidance on financial
assets and financiat liabilities. The new guidance also provides an option for the Company to apply hedge
accounting to reduce accounting mismatch between hedged item and hedging instrument. In addition,
the new rule provides detailed guidance on financial instruments issued by the Company whether i is a
ltability or an equity. Among other things, they require extensive disclosure on financial instruments and
related risks.

The new classification requirements of financial assets require the Company to assess both i) business
model for holding the financial assets; and i) cash flow characteristics of the assel whether the coniractual
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). The classification affects the
financial assels’ measurement. The new guidance requires assessment of impairment of financial assels
as well as contract assets and recognition of expected credit loss from initial recognition.

On 1 January 2020, the Company has adopted the financial reporting standards refated to financial instruments
in its financial statements. The impact from the first-time adoption has been disclosed in Note 5.

TFRS 16, Leases

Where the Company is a lessee, TFRS 16, Leases will result in almost ali leases being recognised on
the balance sheet as the distinction between operating and finance ieases is removed. A right-of-use
asset and a lease liability will be recognised, with exception on short-term and low-value leases.

On 1 January 2020, the Company has adopted the new lease standard in its financial statements. The impact
from {he first-time adoption has been disclosed in Note 5.

Amendment to TAS 12, Income tax clarified that the income tax consequences of dividends of financial
instruments classified as equity should be recognised according to where the past transactions or events
that generated distributable profits were recognised.

Amendment to TAS 19, Employee benefits (plan amendment, curtailment or settlement) - clarified
accounting for defined benefit plan amendments, curtailmenis and seitlements that the updated
assumptions on the dale of change are applied to determine current service cost and net interest for the
remainder of the reporting period after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement.

Amendment to TAS 23, Borrowing costs clarified that if a specific borrowing remains outstanding after
the related qualifying asset is ready for its intended use or sale, it becomes part of general borrowings.

Amendment to TAS 28, investments in associates and joint ventures (long-term interests in
associates and joint ventures) clarified the accounting for long-term interests in an associate or joint
venture, which is In substance form part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture, but to
which equity accounting is not applied. The Company must account for such interesis under TFRS 9,
Financial instruments before applying the loss allocation and impairment requirements in TAS 28, Investments
in associates and joint ventures.
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes fo the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

4.2

g)

TFRIC 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments explained how to recognise and measure deferred
and current income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. in particular,
it discusses:

- that the Company should assume a tax authority will examine the uncertain tax treatments and have
{ull knowledge of all related information, i.e. that detection risk shouid be ignored.

- that the Company should reflect the effect of the uncertainty in its income tax accounting when it is
not probable that the tax authorities will accept the treatment

- that the judgements and estimates made must be reassessed whenever circumstances have
changed or there Is new information that affects the judgements.

New and amended financial reporting standards that are effective for accounting period beginning or
after 1 January 2021 and 2022 and the Company did not apply those financial reporting standards
before effective date

For accounting period beginning or after 1 January 2021

a)

b}

c)

d}

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting added the following key principals and
guidance:

- Measurement hasis, including factors in considering difference measurement basis

- Presentation and disclosure, including classification of income and expenses in other comprehensive
income

- Definition of a reporting entily, which maybe a legal entity, or a portion of an entity

- Derecognition of assets and liabilities

The amendment also includes the revision fo the definition of an asset and liability in the financlal
statements, and clarification to the prominence of stewardship in the objective of financial reporting.

Amendment to TFRS 3, Business combinations amended the definition of a business which requires
an acquisition to include an input and a subslantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The definition of the term ‘outputs’ is amended to focus on goods and services
provided to customers and to exclude returns in the form of lower costs and other economic benefits,

Amendment to TFRS 9, Financial instruments and TFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures
amended to provide relief from applying specific hedge accounting requirements to the uncertainty
arising from interest rate benchmark reform such as IBOR. The amendment also requires disclosure of
hedging relationships directly affected by the uncertainty.

Amendment to TAS 1, Presentation of financial statements and TAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes In accounting estimates and errors amended to definition of materiality. The amendment
allows for a consistent definition of materiality throughout the Thai Financial Reporting Standards and the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. It also clarified when information is material and
incorporates some of the guidance In TAS 1 about immaterial information.

For accounting period beginning or after 1 January 2022

e)

Amendment to TFRS 186, Leases amended {o include a praclical expedient for leases that are modified
as a direct consequence of IBOR reform (e.g. replacement of THBFIX as a benchmark interest rate due
to the cancellation of LIBOR} for lessee to remeasure the lease lability by discounting the revisad lease
payments using a discount rate that reflects the change in the interest rate. An early application of the
amendment is permitted,

The Company's management is currently assessing the impact of adoption of these standards.
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

This note explains the impact of the adoption of TAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation, TFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure, TFRS @ Financial instruments and TFRS 16 Leases on the Company's equity method and the Company’s
separate financial statements. The new accounting policies applied from 1 January 2020 were disclosed in Note 8,

The Company has adopted those accounting policies from 1 January 2020 by applying the modified retrospective
approach. The comparative figures have not been restated. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the
changes in accounting policies were therefore recognized in the statement of financial position as of 1 January 2020.

The impact of first-time adoption of new financial reporting standards on the equity method and separate statements of
financial position are as follows:

Equity Method financiai statements

As at As at
31 December TAS 32 and 1 January
2019 TFRS ¢ TFRS 16 2020
Notes Baht Baht Baht Baht
Assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables, net a), ¢} 405,092,912 (3,218,942} (675,169) 401,198,801
Others 2,075,620,436 - - 2,075,620,436
Total current assets 2,480,713,348 (3,218,942) (675,169) 2,476,819,237
Non-current assets
Fixed assets and telecommunication
networks, net ¢} 3,859,597,709 - (100,930,843) 3,758,666,866
Right-of-use assels, net b) - - 258,183,081 268,183,081
Deferred tax assets, net a), b) 2,487,853 643,788 {135,034) 2,996,607
Others 279,067,808 - - 279,067,808
Total non-current assets 4,141,153,370 643,788 157,117,204 4,298.,914,362
Total assets 6,621,866,718 {2,575,154) 156,442,035 6,775,733,599
Liabilities and equity
Current Habilities
Current portion of lease liabilities, net b) 26,957,257 - 41,908,877 68,866,134
Others 3,311,054,685 - - 3,311,954,696
Total current iiabilities 3,338,911,962 - 41,908,877 3,380,820,829
Non-current liabiiities
Lease liabilities, net b) 40,324,549 - 114,668,192 154,992,741
Others 1,5630,930,410 - - 1,530,930,410
Total non-current liabilities 1,671,254,959 - 114,668,192 1,685,923,151
Total liabiiities 4,910,166,911 - 156,577,069 5,066,743,980
Equity
Retained earnings - unappropriated a}, b) 370,646,802 (2,575,154) {135,034) 367,936,704
Others 1,341,052,915 - - 1,341,052,915
Total equity 1,711,699,807 {2,575,154) (135,034) 1,708,989,619
Total liabilities and equity 6,621,866,718 (2,575,154) 156,442 035 6,775,733,599
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes fo the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Separate financial statements

As at As at
31 December TAS 32 and 1 January
2019 TFRS 9 TFRS 16 2020
Notes Baht Baht Baht Baht
Assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables, net a), ¢) 405,002,912 (3,218,942) (875,169) 401,198,801
Others 2,075,620,436 - - 2,075,620,436
Total current assets 2,480,713,348 {3,218,942) {675,169) 2,476,819,237
Non-current assets
Fixed assels and telecommunication
networks, net c) 3,859,597,709 - (100,830,843) 3,758,666,866
Right-of-use assets, nel b) - - 258,183,081 258,183,081
Deferred tax assets, net a), b) 2,487,853 643,788 {135,034) 2,998,607
Cthers 311,044,932 - - 311,044,932
Totai non-current assets 4,173,130,494 643,788 157,117,204  4,330,891,486
Total assets 6,653,843,842 {2,575,154) 156,442,035 6,807,710,723
Liabilities and equity
Cutrrent liabilities
Current portion of lease liabilities, net by 26,957,257 - 41,908,877 68,866,134
Others 3,311,954,695 - - 3,311,954,695
Total current liabilities 3,338,911,952 - 41,008,877 3,380,820,829
Non-current {iabilities
Lease liabilities, net b) 40,324,549 - 114,668,192 154,092,741
Cthers 1,530,930,410 - - 1,5630,930,410
Total non-current liabilities 1,571,254,959 - 114,668,192  1,685,923,151
Total Habilities 4,910,166,911 - 158,677,062 5,066,743,980
Equity '
Retained earnings - unappropriated a), b) 402,624,016 (2,575,154) (135,034) 399,913,828
Others 1.341,052,915 - - 1,341 ,052.915
Total equity 1,743,676,931 {2,575,154) {135,034) 1,740,966,743
Total liabilities and equity 6,653,843,842 (2,575,154) 156,442,035 6,807,710,723

Notes:

a} Adjustments on impairment of financial assets (Note 5.1)
b} Recognition of right of use assets and lease liabilities under TFRS 16 (Note 5.2)
c) Reclasslfication of leased assets and finance lease liabilities (Note 5.2)
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interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

5.1

Financial instruments

The impacts on the Company's unappropriated retained earnings as of 1 January 2020 are as follows:

Equity Method
and Separate
financial statements

Note Baht

Unappropriated retained earnings as of 31 December 2019

(as previously reported) 402,624,016
increase in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables a) (3,218,942}
Increase in deferred tax assets related {o the above adjustments a) 643,788
Total adjustments to opening unappropriated retained earnings

from adoption of TFRS 9 {2,675,154)
Unappropriated retained earnings as of 1 January 2020

after reflecting TFRS 9 adopticen (hefore adjusting impact from TFRS 16) 400,048,862

As at 1 January 2020 {the date of TFRS 9 initial application}, the management has assessed which business
models apply o the financial assets and financial liabilities, and has classified its financial instruments into the

appropriate TFRS 9 categories helow,

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

Amortised
FVPL FVOCI cost Total
Baht Baiht Baht Baht
As at 1 January 2020
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - 287,560,458 287,560,458

Trade and other receivables, net -
Restricted cash at financial institutions - -

354,416,586 354,416,596

102,000 102,000

- - 642,079,054 642,079,054

Financial liabilities

Short-term borrowings from financial institutions, net -
Trade and other payables -
Long-term borrowings from a financial institution, net -

2,062,979,102 2,052,979,102
808,826,122 808,826,122
1,911,733,183 1,911.733,183

- - 4,773,538,407 4,773,538,407
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(&)

(b)

Reclassifications of financial instruments on adoption of TFRS 9

As at 1 January 2020, the date of TFRS 9 initial application, the measurement categories and canying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities were as follows.

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

Measurement categories Carrying amounts
Previously reported Previously
{TAS 105 and other New reported New Difference
related TAS) {TFRS 8} Baht Baht Baht
Financlal assets
Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost  Amortised cost 287,560,458 287,560,458 -
Trade and other receivables, net Amortised cost  Ameortised cost 358,310,707 355,096,765 3,218,842
Restricted cash at financlal Amortised cost  Ameortised cost 102,000 102,000 -
institutions
Financial kabilties
Short-term borrowings from
financial instiiutions, net Amortised cost  Amortised cost  2,052,0879,102 2,052,979,102 -
Trade and other payables Amortised cost ~ Amortised cost 768,178,300 768,178,300 -
Long-term borcowings from
a financiat institution, net Amortised cost  Amortised cost  1,911,733,183  1,011,733,183 -

impairment of financial assets
The Company have following financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model:

cash and cash equivalents

trade and other receivables

contract assets

short-term borrowings to a joint venture

The Company was required o revise its impairment methodology under TFRS 9. The impact of the
change in impairment methodology on the Company’s retained samings at 1 January 2020 were Baht
3,218,942,

Trade receivables and contract assels

The Company applies the simplified approach in measuring expected credil losses, which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and confract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress
and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the frade receivables for the same types of contracts.
The Company has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the contracl assets. The expected loss rates are based on the historical
payment profiles of sales, the corresponding historical credit losses experfenced as well as forward-looking
information that may affect the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

As of 1 January 2020, the Company recognised additional allowance for expected credit losses of trade
receivables by Baht 3,218,942,

During the year 2020, the Company has reversed aliowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables by
Baht 1,695,251,
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

5.2

Leases

On adoption of TFRS 16, the Company recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously
been classified as 'operating leases' under the principles of TAS 17 Leases. These lease liabilities at the date of
TFRS 186 initial adoption were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January 2020. The weighted average lessea's incremental
borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2020 was 4.50 %.

For leases previously classified as finance leases the Company recognised the carrying amount of the lease
asset and lease liability at the date of TFRS 16 initial aoption before transition as the carrying amount of the
right of use asset and the lease liability at the date of initial application. The measurement principles of TFRS 16
are only applied after that date.

Equity Method
and Separate
financial statements

Baht
Operaling lease commitments disclosed 925,199,847
as at 31 December 2019
{Less): Discounted using the lessee's incremental borrowmg rate
of at the date of inilial application (21,543,350)
Add: Finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2019 67,281,806
{l.ess): Shori-term {eases recognised on a straighl-line basis as expense (7,858,162)
{Less): Low-value leases recognised on a straight-line basis as expense (315,672)
{Less): Service agreements / service portion included in leases . (809,248,522)
Add:  Adjustments as a result of a different treatment of extension
and termination options 70,340,928
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2020 223,858,875
Lease liabilities - current portion 68,866,134
Lease liabifities - non-current portion 154,992,741

The associaled right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the stalement of financial
position as al 31 December 2018. There were no onerous lease contracts that would have required an
adjustment to the right-of-use assets at the date of TFRS 186 initial application,

Practical expedients applied

In applying TFRS 16 to the lease contracts effective before 1 January 2020 for the first time, the Company has
used the following practical expedients penmitied by the standard:

« the use of a single discount rate to a portfolic of leases with reasonably similar characteristics

+ reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous

« the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January 2020 as
short-term leases

» the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset

+ the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate the
lease, and

» elect not to reassess whether a coniract is, or contains a lease as defined under TFRS 16 but relied on its
assessment made applying TAS 17 and TFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
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6.1

6.2

Principles of equity accounting
a) Joint arrangements

Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal struciure of the joint arrangements.

Joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the Company has righis lo the assels, and obligations
for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. The Company recognises its direct right to the assets,
liabililies, revenues and expenses of joint operalions and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets,
liabitities, revenues and expenses. These have been incorporated in the financial statements under the
appropriate headings.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the Company has righls fo the net assels of the
arrangement. [nterests in joint ventures are accounted for using the cost method.

In the separate financial statements, investments in joint ventures are accounted for using equity method
less provision for impairment,

h) Equity method
The investment is initially recognised at cost which is consideration paid and directly attributable costs.

The Company's subsequently recognises shares of its joint ventures’ profits or losses and other comprehensive
income in the profit or loss and other comprehensive income, respectively. The subsequent cumulative
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the invesiment.

When the Company's share of losses in joint ventures equals or exceeds its interest in the joint ventures,
the Company does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint ventures.

A service concession arrangement

A service concession arrangement is an arrangement involving an operator constructing andfor upgrading, operating
and maintaining infrastructure used to provide a public service for a specified period of time. Governmental agency
pays the operator for its services over the period of the arrangement. The arrangement is governed by a contract
that sets out performance standards, mechanisms for adjusting prices and arrangements for arbitrating disputes.
Governmental agency controls (through ownership, beneficial entitiement or otherwise) any significant residual
interest In the infrastructure at the end of the term of the arrangement.

The Company, as the operator for constructing and operating infrastructure, recognises accrued revenue from
network instailation service and accrued revenue from network rendering to the extent that it has an unconditional
right to receive cash or another financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor, for the conslruction of
concession assets. Receivable recognised as a result of the service concession arrangement are measured at fair
value upon initial recognition. Revenue from construction services is recognised using the psrcentage of
completion method. The stage of completion is measured by considering the physical inspection in accordance
with the condition agreed with the customers. Revenue from service from operalion is recognised when the
services have been rendered.

The contractual obligation in commitment repair and maintenance such infrastructure which are not performed in
order to improve the condition of infrastructure are measured and recognised based on the best estimation of
expending to pay for the commitment as at the end of accounting period.
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6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

Foreign currency translation

a) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Thai Baht, which is the Company's funcfional and presentation
currency.

b} Transactions and balances

Forelgn currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions.

Foraign exchange gains and losses resulting from the setilernent of such fransactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the profit or loss.

Any exchange component of gains and losses on a non-monetary item that recognised in profit or loss, or other
comprehensive income is recognised following the recognition of a gain or oss on the non-monetary item,

Cash and cash equivalents

In the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call, short-term
highly liquid investments with malurities of three months or less from acquisition date.

Trade accounts receivable

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, they are recognised at fair value. The Company holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost.

The impairment of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 12,

Financial assets

Far the vear ended 31 December 2020

a) Classification

From 1 January 2020, the Company classifies its debt instrument financial assets in the following measurement
categories depending on i) business model for managing the asset and i) the cash flow characteristics of the
asset whether they represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI.

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value {either through other comprehensive income or through
profit or loss); and
- those to be measured af amortised cost.

The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those
assets changes,

For investments in equity instruments, the Company has an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) or at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOC1) except those that are held for trading, they are measured at FVPL,

b} Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases, acquires and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Company commits to purchase or self the assel. Financial assels are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Company has transferred substantially alf the risks and rewards of ownership.
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6.7

6.8

C) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attribulable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether
the cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

e) Impairment

From 1 January 2020, the Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit loss
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk,

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Company applies the simplified approach, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initia! recognition of the transactions, see note 5.1 for details.

The Company chose to apply the temporary measures to relieve the impact from COVID-19 announced
by TFAC for the reporting periods ended between 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 by excluding
forward-looking information in assessing the expected credit loss under the simplified approach of trade
receviables. The Company applied historical credit adjusted with the management’s judgement in
estimating the expected credit loss as disclosed in note 12,

Fixed assets and telecommunication networks

Fixed assels and telecommunication networks are initially recorded at cost. Subsequently they are stated at historical
cost less accumidated depreciation and impairment. The cosfs of fixed assets and telecommunication networks
comprise both the purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bring the assets to location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operaling in the manner intended by management. Their costs also include
the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which they are
tocated, the obligation for which the Company incurs either when the ilems are acquired or as a consequence of
having used the items during a particular period.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that fufure economic bensfits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced parl is derecognised.

All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on fixed assets and telecommunication networks are caleutated using the straight line method to write off
the cost of each asset to their residual values over their estimated useful! lives, as foliows:

Building 25 - 30 years
Building improvement 10 years
Infrastructure system 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office eguipment 5 years
Tool and equipment 3-10years
Vehicle 5 years
Telecommunication network equipment 5 - 25 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within "other gains or losses, net".

Intangible assets
Computer software

Acquired computer sofiware licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring o use
the specific software. These cosls are amortised over their estimated useful fives of 3 - 15 years.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
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6.9

6.10

Impairment of assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment, or more fraquently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Assels that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

Where the reasons for previously recognised impairments no longer exist, the impairment losses on the assets
concerned other than goodwill is reversed.

The Company chose fo apply the temporary measures to relieve the impact from COVID-18 announced by TFAC
for the reperting pericds ended between 1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020 by excluding information related
to COVID-19 as an indication of the impairment of assets.

Leases

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Leases - where the Company is the lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use assel and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
avallable for use by the Company. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as (o produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for sach period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of
the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Company allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their refative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of
real estate for which the company is a lesses, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and
instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabllities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

variabie lease payment that are based on an index or a rate

amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase oplion if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option,

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement
of the lability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the Isase. if that rate cannot be
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of simllar vaiue in a similar economic environment with simitar
terms and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

« the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

+ any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
« any inilial direct costs, and

+ restoration costs,

Payments associated with shori-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
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6.11

For the year ended 31 December 2019

l.eases - where the Company is the lessee

Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis aver the period of the lease.

At the inception of finance lease, the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments is capitalised. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
charges to achieve a constant rate on the liabilities balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations is
presented net of finance charges. Finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period.

Financial liabilities

For the year ended 31 December 2020

a) Classification

Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as either financial liabilities or equity securities by
considering contractual obligations.

s Where the Company has an unconditional confractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial
asset to another entity, it is consideted a financial liability unless there is a predetermined or possible
seltlement for a fixed amount of cash in exchange of a fixed number of the Company's own equity
instruments.

+ Where the Company has no contractual obligation or has an unconditional right to aveid delivering
cash or another financial asset in settlement of the obligation, it is considered an equily instrument,

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer
seltlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

b) Measurement
Financial iabilities are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

c) Derecognition and modification

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the confract is discharged, cancelfed,
or expired.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated/modified, the Company assesses whether the
renegotiation / modification resulls in the deracognition of that financial Hability. Where the modification
resuits in an extinguishment, the new financial liability is recognised based on fair value of its obligation.
The remaining carrying amount of financial liability is derecognised. The difference as well as proceed
paid is recognised as other gains/(losses) in profit or loss.

Where the modification does not result in the derecognition of the financial liability, the carrying amount
of the financial liability is recalculated as the present value of the renegotiated / modified contractual cash
flows discounted at ils criginal effective interest rate. The difference is recognised in other gains/(losses)
in profit or loss.

For the vear ended 31 December 2018

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan faciliies are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it will be drawn down. The fee is defarred until the drawn down occurs and included in effective inferest
calculation. However, if it is probable that faciiity will not be drawn down, that portion of the fee paid is
recognised as a prepayment and amorised over the period of related facility.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled, or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another parly and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabllities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as finance costs,

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer seftlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date,
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6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

Borrowing Costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assels are added to the cost of those assets less investment income earned from those specific
borrowings. The capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee henefits

a} Shori-term employee benefits
Liabilities for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries, paid annual leave, bonuses and
medical care that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period are
recognised in respect of employess’ service up to the end of the reporting pericd. They are measured al
the amount expected o be paid.

b} Defined contribution plan
The Company pays contributions {o a separate fund. The Company has no further payment obligations

once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due.

c} Defined benefit plans

Amount of retirement benefits is defined by the agreed benefits the employees will receive after the
completion of employment. it usually depends on factors such as age, vears of service and an employee's
latest compensation at retirement.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows using market yield of government bonds that matches the terms and currency of the
expected cash outflows.

Remeasurement gains and losses are recognised directly lo other comprehensive income in the period in
which they arise.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in profit or loss,
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
avents, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has

been reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to seitle the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense,

Current and deferred income taxes

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except o
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax

The current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect fo situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interprefation, It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amotints expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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6.16

617

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising from differences between the tax base of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred income tax is not
recognised for temporary differences arise from:

- initlal recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that affects neither
accounting nor laxable profit or loss is nol recognised

- investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlied by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable fufure.

Deferred income tax is measured using tax rates of the period in which temporary difference is expected to be
reversed, based on fax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be ufilised.

Deferred fax assels and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current {ax assetls and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a
het basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultanecusly.

Share capital

Ordinary shares with discretionary dividends are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Revenue recognition

Revenue include ali revenues from ordinary business activities. All ancillary income in connection with the
others income in the course of the Company’s ordinary activities.

Multiple efement arrangements involving delivery or provision of mulliple producls or services are separated into
distinct performance obligations, Total transaction price of the bundled contract is aflocated to each
performance obligation based on their relative standalone selling prices or estimated standalone selling prices.
Each performance obligation Is recognised as revenue on fulfillment of the obligation to the customer.

Revenue are recorded net of value added tax. They are recognised in accordance with the provision of goods or
services, provided that collectibility of the consideration is probable.

Revenue from network installation service

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and service
in the ordinary course of the Company's activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns, rebates
and discounts. Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods are transferred to the buyer. Revenue from rendering services is based on the services performed {o
date as a percentage of tolal services to be performed.

Revenue from services

Revenue from network instaliation service is recognised using output method as refemed the value of services
completed and fransferred fo customer relative to total value of service promised tinder the contract with customers and
included methods such as surveys of performance completed to date.
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Contract assets and contract liabitities

A contract asset is recognised where the Company recorded revenue for fulfilment of a contractual performance
obligation hefore the customer paid consideration or before the requirements for billing.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer paid consideration or a receivabie from the customer that is
due before the Company fulfilled a contractual performance obligation.

For each customer contract, contract liabilities is set off aéainst contract assets,
Others income

interest income is recognised using the effeclive interest method and other income is recognised on an accrual
basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

Incremental costs of oblaining a contract

The Company capitalises incremental costs of obtaining a long-term contract (mainly sales commission to third
parties and to employees) and amortised to selling expenses in the same pattern of related revenue recognition.

6.18 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholder and the Board of
Directors.

7.4 Financial risk

The Company exposes o a variety of financial risk: market risk {(including foreign exchange risk, interast rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company's
financial performance.

7.1.1 Market risk
Forelgn exchange risk
The Company operates internationally and is exposed fo foreign currency risk arises mainly in US Dollar

from trading and service fransactions that are denominated in foreign currencies. The Company seeks to
reduce this risk by entering into forward exchange contracts when it considers appropriate.

(Unit : Baht/Foreign currency)

Equity Method and

Separate financial statements Exchange rate

Financial Financial As at 31 December 2020

Currency assets liabilities Buying Selling

US Dollars 552,547 605,675 20.87 30.21

{Unit : Baht/Foreign currency)

Equity Method and

Separate financial statements Exchange rate

Financial Financial As at 31 December 2018

Currency assets liahilities Buying Selling

US Doliars 5,901,834 1,410,443 29,98 30.33

Sensitivity

As shown in the table above, the Company is primarily exposed to changes in Baht and US Dollar exchange
rates. The sensitivity of profit or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly from financial assets and
financial habilities denominated in US Dollar
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Equity Method and
Separate financial statements
Impact to net profit

2020 2019
Baht Baht

US Dollar to Baht exchange rate
- increase 10%* (5,313) 479,139
- decrease 10%"* 5313 {479,139)

*

Holding all other variables constant
7.1.2 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rale changes on interest bearing

liabilities and assels. These exposures are managed partly by using natural hedges that arise from
offsetting interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities, and partly through fixed rate borrowings.

28




62

ossoLL'gsZ Yy - 608°GCL’L6  BLEBLL'GOS'L  LEZT'WB9'CLT BSO'6ZE0T  YEU'S0L'SYZ  8LE'GLY'BYET
gZv-I8¢ ¥1Z66L°2LE - - - - . 6G9'A2E'0E  OSL'QLE'PRL GOV LGL'SB
gZy-6LE ole'zEL'oLe’L - 6086216 mﬁm_mt._mom_ L olegvegele - S 0889 290'¢51'64
SLY-00Z  eov'vilsiL - - - - - - Q0P PLLGLL'Z
564°298'z¢el LEO'EEB - - - - GG/ 26506 600°8EC° L.
05°L-G29°0  GGLZBG0S - - - - - 5G/'266°0S -
S5 000'000°'2 - - - - - - £000'000'2
GI'0-GZL0  OFO'LLZOL LE0CE6 - - - - - 500°'8€£'69
(erd 9} yeg =g jeg veg yeg yeg yeq weg
ajel )saaul  |BJOL Buuesq sieal saeal teak | sieahk saeak Jeah |
Isatau| § 1370 S-1 UM G 1200 $-1 LHLMAA
-UON sa3e) 358493u1 buneold S$3)El 1SIIFIU Paxiy

SIUSWISE]S jeueUl) sjeiedag pue polpai ABinba

sanlqel| esed
UORNIRSUI [BOURULY B
woyy sBumoniogq usp-Buo
suCHNIISUI [EOUEUY
woy sBuimosiog uusl-poysg
safiiqe]] [e1ouesuly

suogmsul |eousUl 12 Ysed papusay
amuaa uol e 0} sbumouog uus-poys
syseAnbs yses pue yseo

S}3SSE |BIOURUIY

020Z 12quadaq L¢ je sy

0Z0Z 12quwaseq 1§ Papud 1eak ayy 1oy
SIUBWIILIG [RIDUBULY BU] 0} SOION
papun] Auedwos sjgnd Woos|a L Yuiaju|




og

ZB0PBB'LEOY - YEL'VOB'LE  ZITLLLPEEL 906'v00'LSE - Zi5'LaL'tet 899'GBOCEL'Z
9Z'¥-00% 908'182°L9 - - - - - 6YSvZe 0y LST'L56'9Z
SL¥-05v PRL'EEL'LLE'L - VEL'VOE'LE  ZLZLLLVES'E 906'v00'16E - £20'/£8°08 60€'6VL'ES
Siv-0le Z0L'626'260'2 - - - - - - 20L'646'250'C

85v'299'/8¢2 £OE'ELB - - - - - SG1'61.L'99¢
0s'L 000°Z01 - - - - - - 000°Z01
SL0-STE0  8GK'09G°/8T £0L'eLB - - - - - SG1°L¥9'982
(erd %) eg 3yeg yeg yeg yeg yeg yeg yeq
ajerisIB  [BJOL Buuesaq sieak sieal J2alk L sreak siealk Jeak L

isataiy § 4870 s-1 WAL §J43A0 §-14 UILDIA
-UoN sajes }sas3ul Buneoiq S$S1BL }5343)U paXid

SpaWaRYs [ersueuly sjeredag pue poweyw Ainbz

sopliqel| sses
uognisul jeoueuly e
wiogy sBurmoiog wusy-Bucy
SuoINISUI {eIouRUY
woy) sBuimonog uusi-poys
sanliqer; jeroueuly

SUGIIRHISUL [EIOUBLY JB YSED PSIOLESSY
syusjeninba ysed pue ysen
s)osse [BIOURULY

6107 19quia03Q L€ 38 SV

0Z0Z 1201223(] 1§ Papud 1224 ayl 404
SJUBWALELS [BIDUBLI{ DY} O} STJON
pahiwi Auedwon signd Woas(a | juljaau)




Interlink Telecom Pubtic Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Sensitivity

Profil or loss is sensitive to higher or lower interest expenses from borrowings as a result of changes in
interest rates.

Equity Method and
Separate financial statements
Impact to net profit

2020 2019
Baht Baht
Interest rate
- increase 1%* (38,709,488) (38,372,115)
- decrease 1%* 38,709,488 38,372,115

*

Holding all other variables constant

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding receivables.

a) Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a company basis. For banks and financial institutions, only independently
rated parties.

if customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent
rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other faclors. Individual risk limits are set based on assessments in
accordance with fimits set by the board. The compliance with credit limits by customers is regularly
monitored by line management,

b) impairment of financial assets

The Company has 4 types of financial assets thal are subject to the expected credit loss model:

cash and cash equivalents

trade and other receivables

contract assets

short-term borrowings to a joint venlure

Trade receivables and coniract assels

The Company applies the TFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days pas! due. The contract assets relate to
unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same types of contracts. The Company has therefore concluded that the expected ioss rates for
trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 month before
31 December 2020 and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current information.
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On that basis, the allowance for expected credit losses as at 31 December 2020 was determined as
follows for both trade receivables and contract assets:

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

Upte 3 More than
Not yet due months 3 -6 months & months Total
As at 31 December 2020 Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht
Gross cafrying amount
- frade receivables 489,825,379 80,528,967 2,248,803 11,368,695 583,971,844
- contract assets 1,142,267,024 - 01,690,635 488,943,972  1,722,801,531
Allowanca for expected credit
fosses {261,827) (3,087,289) (451,973)  (6,651,619) {11,352,708)

7.1.4 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and markelable securities and the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when
due and to close out market positions. At the end of the reporiing period the Company held deposits at
call of Baht 70.27 million (2019: Baht 287.56 million) that are expected to readily generate cash inflows
for managing fiquidity risk. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Company
Treasury maintains flexibiily in funding by maintaining availabitity under committed credit lines.

Management monitors i} rolling forecasts of the Company's liquidity reserve {comprising the undrawn borrowing
facilities below); and Ii) cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. In addition, the
Company's liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows in major currencies and considering the
tevel of liquid assets necessary, monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios and maintaining financing plans.

The Company has adequate source of fund including operating cash flows and other financing sources in
accordance with the Company's business plan for using in operation In the future as follows: (1)
horrowing facilities from financial institutions in the amount of Baht 815.65 million, and (2) the potentlal
proceed from warrants on ordinary shares of the Company ({TEL-W1) and (ITEL-W2), and (3} according
to the resclution of board of director's meeting, board approved the issuance of the Company's warrants
on ordinary shares (ITEL-W3) to existing shareholders in the ratio of four existing ordinary shares to one
warrant with the exercise price of Baht 3.30. However, the number of warrant unit are still belng
considered by the Company's management. Board also approved a transfer of assets (DATA CENTER)
to an invesiment trust. Due Diligence process for assessing value of this transaction will be conducted.
Management has estimated a preliminary value of Baht 805 million.

a) Financing arrangements

The Company has access to the following undrawn credit facilities as al 31 December as follows:

Equity Method Separate
financial statements financial statements
2020 2019 2020 2019
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Floating rate
Expiring beyond one year
- Credit facilities of financial
institutions 815,651,501 - 815,651,501 -
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7.2

b) Maturity of financial liabilities

The tables below analyse the maturity of financial liabilities grouping based on their contractual
maturities, The amounts disclosed are the coniractuat undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Equity Method and Separated financial statements

Within Over
1 year 1-5years 5years Total Book value
Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht
As at 31 December 2020
Short-term borrowings from
financial institutions 2,175,174,406 2,175,174 406 2,175,174,406
Trade and other payables 800,778,587 - : _ /800,776,587
Lease liabilities 100,346,042 - 202,531,809 . 32,658,288 . 344,636,229 . 312,799,214
Long-term borrowings from R o
a financial institution 361,791,620 1,385,076,693 92,000,000 1,838,868,313 1,810,142,970
Total financial liabilities '
that is not derivatives 3.447,088,655 1,587608,592 124658288 5,1598,355,635 5,098,893,177
Equity Method and Separated financial statements
Within Over
1 year 1-5years S years Total Book value
Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht

As at 31 December 2019
Shon-term borrowings from
financial institutions

2,062,879,102

- 2,062,079,102

2,052,979,102

Trade and other payables 808,826,122 808,826,122
Lease llabllities 29,202,383 67,281,806
Long-term borrowings from

a financial institution 409,749,120 1,420,517,834 92 000,000 1,922,266954 1,911,733,183
Total financial liabiiities

that is not derivatives 3,300,756,727 1,462,624,012 92,000,000 4,855,380,739 4,840,820,213

Capital management

7.2.1 Risk management

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern in order o provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and fo
maintain an optimal capital structure o reduce the cost of capital.

As at 31 December, net debt to equity ratios of the Company are as follows:

Equity Method and Separated
financial statements

2020 2019
Baht Baht
Borrowings from financial institutions 3,985317,376  3,964,712,285
Equity 1,032,018,064  1,743,676,931
Borrowings {o equity ratio 208 2.27

Debt covenants

Under the terms of the major borrowing facilities, the Company is required to comply with the following
financial covenanis:

» the net debt from financial insiitutions to equity ratio must not exceed 2.5 : 1, and
« the debt service coverage ratio (DSCR) must be not less than 1.2.

The Company has complied with these covenants throughout the reporting period. As at 31 December
2020, the net debt from financial institutions fo equity ratio was 2.06 (2019: 2.27) and the debt service
coverage ratio was 1.99 (2019: 1.47),
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

a)

b)

<)

d)

)

Employee benefit obligations

The present value of the retirement benefit ebligations depends on a number of assumptions. Key assumptions
used and impacts from possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed in note 24.

Revenue recognition when the Company toward complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Revenue from network installation service is recognised using output methods as referred the value of setvices
completed and transferred to customer relative to total value of service promised under the contract with customers
and included methods such as surveys of performance completed to date.

Determination of lease terms

Critical judgement in determining the lease term, the Company considers all facts and circumstances that create
an economic incentive to exercise an exlension option, or nof exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the Iease is reasonably certain fo be
extended {or not terminated).

For leases of properties, the most relevant factors are historical lease durations, the costs and conditions of
leased assets.

Most exiension options on offices and vehicles leases have not been included in the lease liability, because the
Company considers i) the underlying asset condition and/or ii} insignificant cost to replace the leased assets.

The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Company becomes
obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant event
or a significant change in circumstance affecting this assessment oceur, and that # is within the control of the
Company.

Determination of discount rate applied to leases

The Company delermines the incremental horrowing rate as follows:

»  Where possible, use recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusting to
reflect changes in its financing conditions.

« Make adjustments specific to the lease, e.a. term, country, currency and security.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about default risk and expected loss rates.

The Company uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs used in the impairment

calculation, based on the Company's past history and existing market conditions, as well as forward-looking
estimates at the end of each reporling period.

34



Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 Decembher 2020

The following table shows fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities by category.

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

Fair value Fair value
through  through other
profit or comprehensive
loss income Amortised
{(FVPL} {FVOCI) cost Total
Baht Baht Baht Baht

As at 31 December 2020
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents Ca
Trade and other receivables, net -

Shoft-term borrowing to a joint venture -
Restricted cash at financial institutions -

T

3

T

70,271,040 70,271,040
599,528,606 599,528,696
2,000,000 2,000,000
50,502,765 50,692,755

722,392,481 722,392,491

Financial liabilities
Short-term borrowings from financial institutions, net -

Trade and other payables -

Long-term borrowings from a financial institution, net -

2,175,174,406 2,175,174,408
774,169,416 774,169,416
1,810,142,970 1,810,142,970

- 4,750486,792 4,759,488,792

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

Fair value
through
profit or

loss
(FVPL)
Baht

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
(FVOCH)

Baht

Amortised
cost Total
Baht Baht

As at 31 December 2019
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents -
Trade and other receivables, net -
Restricted cash at financial institutions -

287,560,458 287,560,458
405,002,912 405,002,912
102,000 102,000

692,755,370 692,755,370

Financial liabilities

Short-term horrowings from financial institutions, net -
Trade and other payables -
Long-term borrowings from a financial institution, net -

2,082,079,102 2,052,979,102
768,178,300 768,178,300
1,911,733,183 1,911,733,183

4,732,880,585 4,732,890,585

Fair value of following financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost where their carrying value

approximated fair value are as follows:

Ecquity Method financial statements and Separate financial statements

Financial assets
- Cash and cash equivalents
- Restricted cash at financial institutions
- Trade and other receivables
- Accrued revenue from network instaliation service
Accrued revenue from network rendering
- Retention receivables
- Other current assels
- Other non-current assets
Financial liabilities
- Trade and other payables
- Other current liabilities

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the year.
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Operaling segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided o the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as management that makes strategic decisions.

The one main operaling segment of the Company is telecommunication business and the single geographical area of thelr
operations is Thailand. Segment performance is measured based on operating profit or loss, on a basis consistent with that
used to measure operating profit or loss in the financial statements. As a result, all of the revenues, operating profits
and assets as reftected In this financial statements pertain lo the aforementioned reportable operating segment and
geographical area.

Equity Method and Separate financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020
Service income  Service income

Service income  from network - from data

from network installation  center space

rendering service service
Baht Baht Baht Baht

Type of revenue recognition: S '

- Pointin time e 446,374,953 - 446,374,953
- Overtime 1,111,142,371 377,592,325 85420872  1,574,155,568
1,111,142,371 823,967,278 85,420,872  2020,5630,621

Equity Method and Separate financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019
Service income  Service income

Service Income  from network from data

from network installation center space

rendering service service
Baht Baht Baht Baht

Type of revenue recognition:

- Pointin time - 104,747,010 - 104,747,010
- Overtime 848,859,633 1,282,781,643 093,913,643 2225554819
848,859,633 1,387,528,653 93,913,543 2 330,301,829

Main customer

Puring the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue from 4 major customers of approximately Baht 1,187 million
represented 57.66% of the Company's total revenues (2019: revenue from 4 major customers of approximately Baht
1,581 million represented 67.37% of the Company's total revenues),

G G

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019

Baht Baht

Cash on hand . 933,031 913,303
Depaosits at financial institutions

- Current accounts 34,558,853 98,583,382

- Savings accounts 34,780,086 188,061,711

- Fixed deposit due within 3 months 2,070 2,062

Total cash and cash equivalents 70,271,040 287,560,458

As at 31 December 2020, the deposits at financial institutions of the Company are deposits at local financial institutions, bore
interest at rates from 0.125% to 0.750% per annum (2019: 0.125% fo 0.750% per annum).
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Trade receivables

Trade receivables - related partias

Less Allowance for expected credit losses (2019: Allowance for
doubtful accounts under TAS 101)

Total trade receivables, net

Other receivables

Other receivables - refated parties
Prepaid expenses

Advance payment

Beposits

Total trade and other recelvables, nst

Outstanding trade receivables can be analysed as follows:

Not yet due

Less than 3 months
3 - 6 months

More than 6 months

Less Aflowance for expected credit losses {2019: Allowance for

doubtful accounts under TAS 101)

Tolal trade ;eceivables. net

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019

Baht Baht
581,878,476 337,685,376
2,093,368 2,053,726
{11,352,708) (9,829,017)
572,619,136 329,910,085
4,543,830 3,143,185
2,026,297 2,879,888
41,930,084 46,782,205
19,755,650 17,682,272
583,783 4,685,267
641,458,780 405,092,912

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019
_Baht Baht
'480.825379 154,371,118
. '80,528.967  158,251.789
2248803 7,880,951
11,368,695 10235248
583,071,844 339,739,102
(11,352,708) (9,829,017)
572619136  329.910.085

The allowance for expected credit losses for trade receivables was determined as follows:

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

Less than 3 3-8 More than
months months 6 months Total
Baht Baht Baht Baht

168,251,789 7,880,951 19,245,246 339,738,102

(741,273) {18,000y (11,777,735) (13,047,959)

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

Less than 3 3-86 More than
months months 6 months Total

_ Baht Baht Baht Baht

80,528,967 2,248,803 11,368,695 583,971,844

Not yet due

As of 1 January 2020 Baht
Gross carrying amount

- trade receivables 154,371,116

Allowance for expected credit losses . (610,951)

Not yet due

As of 31 December 2020 Baht
Gross carrying amount

- frade receivables 489,825,379

Allowance for expected credit losses {261,827)

(3,987,289) (451,873)  (6,651,619) (11,352,708)
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The reconciliations of loss allowance of trade receivables for the year ended 31 December 2020 are as follow:

Equity Method and
Separate financial statements
Trade receivables

2020 2019

Baht Baht

31 December - ¢calculated under TAS 101 9,829,017 9,829,017

Amounts restated through opening retained earnings 3,218,042 -
Allowance for expected credit fosses as at 1 January 2020

- calculated under TFRS 9 (2019: TAS 101) 13,047,959 9,829,017

Allowance for expected credit fosses reversed (1,695,251) "

As of 31 December - calculated under TFRS 9 (2019: TAS 101) 11,352,708 9,828,017

As at 1 January 2020, the Company reclassified short-term financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost, following the requirement of new financial reporting standards as desciibed in Nole 9.

14.1 Contract assets

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019
Baht Baht
Contract assets
- Current
Accrued revenue from network installation service 1,216,503,522 1,371,052,73¢9
- Non-current
Accrued revenue from network rendering 506,298,000 181,334,763
Total contract assets 1,722,801,531 1,552,387 502

| 14.2  Assets recognised from contract costs
Costs to fulfil a contract
The asset recognised from capitalising the costs to fulfil a network rendering contract is included in prepaid

expenses {note 12), net in the statement of financial position. The asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the specific contract it relates to, consistent with the pattern of recognition of the associated revenue.

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019
Baht Baht
Statement of financial position as at 31 December:
Assets recognised from costs to fulfil a contract 6,485,865 12,485,207
Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December:
Amortisation charges 5,899,343 7,514,793
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14.3 Contract liabilities

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019
Baht Baht
Contract liabilities
- Current
Advance received from network installation service 20,104,485 21,903,183
- Non-current
Advance received from long-term network installation service 5,060,202 11,526,044
Total contract liabilities 25,164,687 33,420,227

Revenue recognised in relation to contract fiabilitles

Revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much

relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019
Baht Baht
Revenue recognised that was included in the brought forward balance '
of contract liabilities o e
- Network Installation service contract 21,205,800 25,831,608

As at 31 December 2020 and 2018, the Company has an investment in a joint venture as follows;

Genesis Data Center Co,, Ltd.

Genesis Data Center Co., Ltd., a joint venture of the Company, has a total of 2,100,000 registered ordinary shares at
a par value of Baht 100 per share amounting to Baht 210 million. The Company hoids 33.33% of its authorised share

capital amounting to Baht 70 million.

The movement in investment in a joint venture is analysed as follows;

Equity Method Separate
financial financial
statements statements
Baht Baht

For the year ended 31 December 2020 -
Opening book value 38,022,776 - 69,999,900
Share of losses from investment in a joint venture o (7,318,943) : -
Closing book value 30,703,833 69,999,800

The joint venture has share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which is held direclly by the Company.
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Nature of investment in a joint venture

Measurement Nature of the
Name of entity % of ownership interest method relationship
Genesis Data Center Co., Ltd. 33.33 Equity Note 1

Note 1: Genesis Dala Center Co., Ltd. provides data center space seivice such as co-location service, cloud computing
service and disaster recovery service. Genesis Data Center Co., Lid. is a strategic partnership for the Company, providing
data center space business. Genesis Data Center Co., Ltd. is a private company and there is no guoted market price
available for its shares.

Summarised financial information for joint venture

Set out below are the summarised financial information for Genesis Data Center Co., Ltd. which is accounted for using

the equity method,

Summarised statement of financial position

Genesis Data Center Co., Ltd.
As at 31 December

2020 2014

Baht Baht
Current assets .
Cash and cash equivalents 98,635 79,427
Other current assets (excluding cash) 34,006,273 32,342,388
Total current assets 34,104,908 32,421,815
Non-current assets 394,918,791 422 721,652
Total assets 429.02_3.699 465,143,467
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities (excluding trade payabies) 441,056 1,361,573
Other current liabilities (including trade payables) 140,035,798 30,508,565
Total current liabilities 140,476,854 31,871,138
Non-current liabilities 196,435,346 300,204,002
Total liahilities 336,912,200 341,075,140
Net assets 92,111,499 114,068,327

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Genesis Data Center Co,, Ltd.
For the year ended

31 December

2020 2019
Banht Baht
Rental and service income 43,572,356 39,179,969
Other income 4,284,135 1,079,069
Rental and service cost {21,665,835) (19,273,045)

Administrative expensse
Finance cosls

(33,116,152)
(16,031,332)

(35,808, 140)
(15,438,773)

Loss from continuing operations {21,956,828) {(30,260,920)
income tax expense - -
Post-tax loss from continuing operations (21,956,828) (30,260,920)
Other comprehensive loss - -
Total comprehensive loss '(21,956,828) (30,260,920)
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The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the joint venture adjusted for differences
in accounting policies between the Company and the joint venture (and not the Company's share of those amounts).

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciiiation of summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in a joint venture.

Genesis Data Center Co,, Ltd,
For the year ended
31 December

2020 2019
Summarised financial statements Baht Baht
Opening net assets 114,068,327 144,329,247
Loss for the year (21,956,828) {30,260,920)
Closing net assets 92,111,499 114,068,327
Interest in a joint venture 33.33% 33.33%
Carrying value 30,703,833 38,002,776
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Interlink Telecom Puhlic Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Leased assets included above, where the Company is a lessee under a finance lease, comprise of telecommunication
network equipment as follows:

Equity Method
and Separate

fimancial

statements

As at 31 December 2019
Baht

Capitalisation costs as finance lease 110,695,553
Less Accumulated depreciation (9,764,710)
Net book value 100,930,843

For the year 2020, the Company are presented right-of-use assets as a separate line item in the statement of financial
pasition as a results of changes in accounting poficy in note 5.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company pledged fixed asset and telecommunication networks as collateral against the
long-term borrowings from a financial institution with net book value amount of Baht 145.39 million (2018: Baht 179.43 million)
(Note 23).

As at 31 December, right-of-use asset balance are as follows:

Equity Method financial statements
and separate financial statements

31 December 1 January

2020 2020

Baht Baht

Building 79,927,407 84,939,007
Equipment 224,892,868 100,830,843
Vehicles 51,140,952 72,313,231
Total right-of-use assets 365,961,227 258,183,081

For the year ended 31 December, amounts charged to profit or loss and cash flows refaling to ieases are as follows:

Equity Method
and Separate

financial
statements
2020
Baht

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets:
Building 14,683,183
Equipment 6,971,989
Vehicles 34,640,149
Total 56,295,331
Addition to the right-of-use assels during the year 168,529,033
Total cash outflow for leases 79,580,504
Expense relating to short-term leases 22,647,805
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets 188,847
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

Computer
Computer software
software  in progress Total
Baht Baht Baht

As at 1 January 2019
Cost 28,870,376 850,000 29,720,376
Less Accumulated amortisation (3,346,686) - (3,346,686)
Net book value 25,523,690 850,000 26,373,690
For the year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book value 25,623,690 850,000 26,373,690
Additions 1,475,000 - 1,475,000
Transfer in (ouf) 850,000 (850,000) -
Amortisation charge {1,892 510) - (1,992,510
Closing net book value 25,856,180 - 25,856,180
As at 31 December 2019
Cost ' 31,195,376 - 31,195,376
Less Accumulated amortisation {5,339,196) - (5,339,196)
Net book value 25,856,180 - 25,856,180
For the year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net book value 25,856,180 - 25,856,180
Addilions 2,090,000 - 2,090,000
Amortisation charge (2,493,754) - (2,493,754)
Ciosing net book value 25,452,426 - 25,452,426
As at 31 December 2020
Cost 33,285,376 - 33,285,376
Less Accumulated amortisation {7,832,950) - (7,832,950)
Net book value 25,452 426 - 25,452,426
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interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The analysis of deferred tax assels and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months
Deferred tax assets fo be recovered after more than 12 months

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred tax liabilities to be seftled within 12 months
Deferred tax liahilities to be settled after more than 12 months

Deferred tax assets (liabilitles), net

The movement of the deferred tax assefs (llabilities) is as follows:

As at 31 December

Adjustment from adoption of new accounting standards

As at 1 January (note 5)

Charged / {credited) to profit or loss

Charged / (credited) directly to other comprehensive income (loss)

As at 31 December

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019

Baht Baht
18,912,895 17,875,538
8,816,794 7,367,787
27,720 689 25,243,322
(2,268,425) {946 ,433)

(34,176,761)

(21,809,036)

{36,435,186)

(22,755,469)

(8,705,497)

2,487,853

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019

Baht Baht
2,487,853 18,197,323
508,754 -
(11,702,104) (16,267,630)
- 558,160
(8,705,497) 2,487,853
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interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Deferred tax liabilities

As at 31 December 2019

Adjustment from adoption of new accounting standards
As at 1 January 2020 {nofe 5)

(Charged) / credited to profit or loss

As at 31 December 2020

As at 1 January 2019
{Charged) / credited to profit or loss

As at 31 December 2019

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

Leases Others Total
Baht Baht Baht
{20,753,962) (2,001,507} (22,755,469}
(135,034) ' - {135,034)
(10,551,305) (2,993,378} (13,544,683)
(31,440,301) {4,984 ,885) (36,435,186}
(7,823,832} {1,658,350) (9,482,182)
(12,930,130) (343,157) (13,273,287)
(20,753,962) (2,001,507) {22,755,469)

As at 31 December 2020, short-term borrowings from financial institutions comprise promissory noles without collateral of
Baht 2,177.69 million. The interest rate is 2.50% - 4.75% per anhum. These borrowings are due for repayment within
1 year (2019 amount Baht 2,055.91 million. The interest rate is 3.10% - 4.50% per annum. These borrowings are due for
repayment within 1 year).

The movement of the short-term borrowings from financial institutions can be analysed as follows:

For the years ended 31 December

QOpening book value
Cash flows:
Proceed from borrowings during the year
Repayment to borrowings during the year
Addition of deferred financing fee
Non-cash items:
Amortisation of financing fee

Closing book value

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020
Baht

2019
Baht

2,052,979,102

1,890,266,273
{1,777,479,050)

(616,250)
1,024,331

1,036,052,744

2,285,951,276
(1,269,070,000)

{1,897,000)

1,042,082

2,175,174,406

2,052,979,102

Trade payables
Trade payables - related parties

Total accounts payables

Other payables

Other payables - related parties
Network installation cost payables
Service agresment payables
Retention payables

Accrued expenses

Total trade and other payables

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019

Baht Baht
552,380,398 528,316,125
7,868,820 17,005,296
560,249,318 545,321,421
17,341,767 16,644,660
10,213,054 9,880,854
107,512,492 123,490,451
19,131,045 16,638,722
59,721,741 56,402,192
26,607,170 40,647,822
800,776,587 808,826,122
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Within 1 year
Over 1 years, but less than 5 years
Over 5 years

Less Future interest paid of finance lease liabifities

Present value of finance lease liabilities, net

Finance lease labilities excluded future interest paid are as follows:

Finance lease liabilities, net
Less Current portion of finance lease liabilities, net

RS R

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019

Baht Baht
100,348,042 29,202,383
202,531,899 42.106,178
32,658,288 -
344 538,229 71,308,581
(31,737,015) (4,026,755)
312,799,214 67,281,806

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019
Baht Baht
312,798,214 67,281,806
{98,151,405) (26,957,257)
214,647,809 40,324,549

The fair value of finance lease flabilities approximated their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant,

Changes in lease liabilities are as follows:

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements
l.ease liabilities Lease liabilities

- due within 1 - due over 1
year year Total

Net liabilities as at 1 January 2019 20,448,375 22634404 43,082,779
Cash flows:
Payment for lease liabilities (29,173,860) - (29,173,880)
Non-cash items:
Added lease liabilities, excluding future interast 22,501,407 30,871,480 53,372,887
Transferred from lease liabilities that is

due over 1 year to lease liabllities due within 1 year 13,181,335 (13,181,335) “
Net liabilities as at 31 December 2019 26,957 257 40,324,649 67,281,806
Adjustments from change in accounting policy (Note 5} 41,908,877 114,668,192 156,577,069
Net liabilities as at 1 January 2020 68,866,134 154,992,741 223,858,875
Cash flows: S o
Payment for lease liabllities '(79._589,594) - (79,588,504)
Mon-cash items: S R o
Added lease liabilities, excluding future interest - 44,976,370 123,653,563 168,529,933
Transferred from lease liabilities that is

due over 1 year to lease liabilities due within 1 year 63,898,495 (63,808,495) -
Net liabilities as at 31 December 2020 98,151,405 214,647,808 312,789,214

49



Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Current portion of long-term borrowings from a financial institution
Thai Baht borrowings
Less Deferred financing service fees due within one year

Current portion of long-term borrowings
from a financial insfitution, net

Long-term borrowings from a financial institution
Thai Baht borrowings
Less Deferred financing service fees due later than one year

Long-term borrowings from a financial institution, net

Total long-term borrowings from a financial institution, net

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019

Baht Baht
349,782 579 405,349,308
(935,281) (1,195,094)
348,847,208 404,154,214

1,462,958,615
{1,662,043)

1,509,937,023
(2,358,054)

1,461,295,672

1,507,578,969

1,810,142,970

1,911,733,183

The movemaent of the long-term borrowings from financial institutions can be analysed as follows:

For the years ended 31 December

Opening book value

Cash flows:
Proceed from borrowings during the year
Repayment to borrowlngs during the year
Addition of deferred financing fee

Non-cash items:

Amontisation of financing fee

Adjusted by using the effective interest rate method

Gain on long-term borrowings modification

Closing book value

Eauity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020
Baht

2019
Baht

1,911,733,183

1,709,306,403

65,337,000 583,500,000
(147,829,720)  (380,387,054)
B (1,810,000)
1,085,801 1,124,644
(1,508,026) -
(18,677,268) -

1,810,142 970

1,811,733,183

The fair value of long-term borrowings from a financial institution approximated their carrying amount, as the impact of

discounting from floating rate is not significant.

The fair values are based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based upon the borowing rate of 3.75% - 4.50%

(2019: 4.50% - 4.75%) and are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had long-lerm borrowings denominated in Thai Baht with a local financial
institution which were secured amounting fo Baht 1,832.79 million (2019: Baht 1,915.29 million) as follows:

Quistanding

balance as at
31 December

Qutstanding
balance as at
31 December

2020 2019 Interest rate Principal Interest

Number {Baht) (Baht) perannum repayment term payment period

1 210,950,000 234,500,000 MLR - 1.5% Repayment every month Payment every month
from November 2016

2 160,000,000 175,000,000 MLR-1.5% Repayment every month Payment every month
from Decemnber 2017

3 124,100,000 134,000,000 MER-15% Repayment every month Payment every month
from May 2018

4" 160,500,000 160,400,000 MLR -1.5% Repayment every month Payment every month
from January 2019

5 153,800,000 163,700,000 MLR-15% Repayment every month Payment every month
from February 2019

&' 167,000,000 176,900,000 MLR-15% Repayment every month Payment every month
from June 2019

7 476,900,000 186,800,000 MLR - 1.5% Repayment every month Payment every month
from September 2019

8 560,000,000 550,000,000 MLR-15% Repayment every month Payment every month
from November 2021

9" 22,008,651 37,761,071 4% Repayment every month Payment every month
from May 2018

10" 961,063 1,670,435 4% Repayment every month Payment every month
from July 2018

11" 13,827,717 22,595,337 4% Repayment every month Payment every month
from July 2018

12" 34,977,745 58,511,094 4% Repayment every month Payment every month
from June 2018

13" 121,241 351,972 4% Repayment every month Payment every month
from July 2018

14" 2,940,911 5,046,053 4% Repayment every month Payment every month
from August 2018

15" 5,080,695 8,150,369 4,26% Repayment every month Payment every month
from November 2019

16" 4,799,522 - 4.26% Repayment every month  Payment every 3 months
from July 2020

17" 46,993,819 - 3.87% Repayment every month Payment every month
from September 2020

18" 4,672,176 - 3.90% Repayment every month Payment every month
from October 2020

19" 2,241,071 - 4.04% Repayment every month Paymaent every month
from December 2020

Total 1,832,793611 1,9815,286,331

*k

The long-term borrowings from a financial institution are secured by Director of the Company and 51% share of the
Company. In addition, the Company is required to comply with certain conditions throughout the borrowings period
such as maintaining borrowings from financial institution to the equity and borrowings from related parties ratio,
maintaining debt service coverage ratio, etc.

The long-term borrowings from a financial institution are secured by pledge of fixed assets and telecommunication
networks as mentioned in Note 16.

During the year 2020, the Company signed memorandums of agreements with a local financial institution to extend
the repayment period for one year on seven lang-term borrowing agreements, totalling Baht 1,832.80 million
(outstanding balance as at 31 December 2020: Baht 1,143.25 million), as a results, the Company was not required
to repay principle during the period start from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, The Company recognised modification
gain of extending repayment amounting to Baht 18.68 million. These extensions of long-term borrowings were not
substantially different as the discounted cash flow value of new borrowings varies from discounted cash flow value
of previous borrowings less than 10%. Therefore, the Company reclassified its extended portion of borrowings to
non-current abilities.
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The movements in the employee henefit obligations during the years are as follows:

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019
Baht Baht
Opening balance 11,825,397 5,822,507
Current service cost 2,906,807 1,962,265
Past service cost - 1,042 887
interest cost 222,216 208,940
Remeasurements
Loss from change in demographic assumptions - 409,603
Loss from change in financial assumptions - 1,274,331
Experience loss - 1,106,864
Closing balance 14,954,420 11,825,397

The following table is a surmary of the assumptions relating to the actuarial technique as at the date of financial statements:

Equity Method and Separate
financial statemants

2020 2619

% %

Discount rate 1.88 1.88
Salary increase rate 6.50 6.50
Turnover rate 5-15 5-15
Mortality rate TMO 2017 TMO 2017
Disability rate TMO 2017 TMO 2017
Equity Method and Separate financial statements

2020

Impact cn defined benefit obligation

Change in Increase in Decrease in

assumption assumption assumption

Discount rate 0.5% Decreased by Increased by
. Baht 1,257,178 Baht 1,400,520

Salary increase rate 0.5% " Increased by Decreased by
Baht 1,407,798 Baht 1,276,295

Turnover rate 10% “Decreased by Increased by
Baht 2,146,207 Baht 2,607,175

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

2019

Impact on defined benefit obligation

Change in Increase in Decrease in

assumption assumption assumption

Discount rate 0.5% Decreased by Increased by
Baht 1,037,858 Baht 1,159,959

Salary increase rate 0.5% Increased by Decreased by
Baht 1,102,477 Baht 1,000,354

Turnover rate 10% Decreased by increased by

Baht 1,675,877

Baht 2,030,184
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.
In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the
sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the
defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been
applied as when calcuiating the pension liability recognised within the statement of financial position.

The weighted average durations of the Company's defined benefit obligation is equal o 20 years (2019: 21 years).

Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted retirement;

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

Less than Between Between ‘ Over
a year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years Total
Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht
At 31 December 2020 '
Retirement benefits - - 803,928 106,919,588 107,523,516
Total - - 603,928 106,919,588 107,523,516
Equity Method and Separate financial statements
Less than Between Between QOver
ayear 1-2 years 2-5years 5 years Total
Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht
At 31 December 2019
Retirement benefits - - 360,119 107,163,387 107,523,516
Total - - 360,119 107,163,397 107,523,516

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

Authorised Issued and Issued and  Premium on

share capital paid-up pald-up share capital Total

Shares Shares Baht Baht Baht

At 1 January 2019 1,250,000,000 1,000,000,000 500,000,000 814,942,915 1,314,942 915
Increased - - - - -
At 31 December 2019 1,250,000,000  1,000,000,000 500,000,000 814,942 915 1,314,942 9156
At 1 January 2020 1,250,000,000  1,000,000,000 - . 500,000,000 814,942,916 1,314,942,915
Increased 250,000,000 B - SO - R SRR
At 31 December 2020 1,500,000,000  1,000,000,000 ' "500,000,000 814,942,915 1,314,942 915

At the Board of Director Meeting held on 8 July 2020, the Shareholders approved the increase share capital from Baht
625,000,000 to Baht 750,000,000 by issuing new ordinary shares of 250,000,000 at Baht 0.50 each for support the issuance
of warrant to purchase ordinary shares of the Company No.2 (ITEL-W2), which the Company registered the increase in
share capital with the ministry of commerce on 22 July 2020.
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

At 1 January
Appropriation during the year

At 31 December

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019

Banht Baht
26,110,000 16,510,000
9,560,000 9,600,000
35,670,000 26,110,000

Under the Public Limited Company Act., B.E. 2535, the Company is required to set aside as a legal reserve at least
5% of its net profit after accumulated deficits brought forward (if any} until the reserve is not less than 10% of the registered

capital. The legal reserve is non-distributable.

28.1 In order to comply with the Notification of NBTC on License Fees for Telecommunications Business, the details
of revenue used for the purpose of the calculation of the license fee ("license fee”) were as follows:

For the years ended 31 Dacember

Relevant revenue and must be used to calculate the license fee
- Service income from network rendering
- Service income from data center space service

Total relevant revenue and must be used to calculate the license fee

Irrelevant revenue and were not be used to calculate the license fee
- Service income from network rendering

- Service income from network installation service

- Service income from data center space service

- Gain on long-term borrowings modification

- Other income

Total irrelevant revenue and were not be used to calculate the license fee

Revenue

- Service income from network rendering

Service income from network installation service
Service income from data center space service
Gain on long-term borrowings modification
Other income

Total revenue

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

2020 2019

Baht Baht
780,803,628 696,442,168
62,330,979 65,377,611
843,134,607 761,819,779
330,338,743 152,417,465
823,967,278 1,387,528,653
23,080,893 28,635,932
18,677,268 -
19,682,886 16,291,589

1.215,756,068

1,584,773,639

1,111,142,371 848,859,633
823,067,278  1,387,528,653
86,420,872 93,913,543
18,677,268 -
16,682,886 16,291,589
2,058,800,6756  2,346,593,418
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interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

28.2 In order to comply with the Notification of NBTC on Criteria and Procedures for Universal Service Obligation Fee
{"USQ fee"}, the details of revenue used for the purpose of the calculation of the USO fee were as follows:

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

For the years ended 31 December 2020 2019
Baht Baht

Relevant revenue and must be used to calculate the USO fee

- Service income from network rendering 780,803,628 696,442,168

Total relevant revenue and must be used to calculate the USO fee 780,803,628 696,442,168

lrrelevant revenue and was not be used to calculate the USO fee

- Service income from network rendering 330,338,743 152,417,465

Total irrelevant revenus and was not be used to calculate the USO fee 330,338,743 162,417 465

Total service income from network rendering 1,111,142,371 848,859,633

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements

For the years ended 31 December 2020 2019

Baht Baht
Subconiract costs 393,230,564 897,740,440
Staff costs 113,871,146 128,176,515
Depreciation and amortisation charges 263,351,684 226,364,413
Repair and maintenance expense 136,089,870 105,273,805
Material and equipment used 61,360,155 173,907,738
System and network expense 217,908,809 122,847,661
Rental fee under service contracts 73,316,486 128,133,089

Equity Method

financial statements

Separate

financial statements

For the years ended 31 December 2020 2019 2020 2019

Baht Baht Baht Baht
Over recorded in prior year _ - (3,657,504) ' R (3,657,504}
Current tax ~-.36,409,908 35,150,509 36,409,908 35,150,509
Deferred tax 11,702,104 16,267,630 11,702,104 16,267,630
Total income faxes 48,112,012 47,760,635 48,112,012 47,760,635
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Interlink Telecom Public Company Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The income tax on the profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate as foliows:

Equity Method Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the years ended 31 December 2020 2019 2020 2019
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Profit hefore income tax 231,844,390 228,760,725 239,163,333 238,847,599
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 20% 20% 20% 20%
The result of the accounting
profit mutltiplied by the
income tax rate 46,368,878 45,752,145 47,832,667 47,769,520
Tax effect of:
Joint ventures' resulting reported, net of tax 1,463,789 2,017,375 - -
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 340,513 62,803 340,513 62,803
Double deductible expenses '
for tax purpose {61,168) (71,688) . (81,168) (71,688)
Income fax 48,112,012 47,760,635 48,112,012 47,760,635

The tax {charge) / credit relating to component of other comprehensive (income) loss is as follows:

Equity Method and Separate financial statements

2020 2019
Tax {charge)/ Tax (charge}/
Before tax credit After tax Before tax credit After tax
Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht Baht
Remeasuremsent on retirement o ' e
benefit obligations - K - - 2,790,798 (658,160) 2,232,638
Other comprehensive ' ;
(income) loss - - - 2,790,798 (558,160) 2,232,638
Current tax - -
Deferred tax (Note 19) - (558,160)
R {558,160)

31.1 Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable lo shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Equity Method Separate

financial statements financial statements

For the years ended 31 December 2020 2019 2020 2019

Profit attributable to

the Company (Baht) 183,732,378 181,000,090 181,051,321 191,086,964
Weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue (Shares) 1.000,000,000  1,000,000,000 14,000,000,000 1,000,000,000

Basic earnings per share (Baht) 0.18 0.18 0.1¢9 0.1¢
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31.2 Diluted earnings per share

The diluted earnings per share is calculated adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of alt dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has one category of dilutive potential ordinary
shares: the warrants. A calculation is made lo determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average market price during the pericd of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary
value of the subscription rights attached fo outstanding warrants, The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming warrants which the exercise price is
lower than the average market price of the Company's shares have been exercised.

Equity method Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the years ended 31 December 2020 2019 2020 2019
Profit attributable to
the Company (Baht) 183,732,378 181,000,090 191,051,321 191,086,964
Weighted average number of v
ordinary shares in issue (Shares) 1,000,000,000. 1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
Adjustment: conversion S '
of warrants (Shares) - - - -
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for diluted earnings per share
{Shares) 1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000
Diluted earnings per share (Baht) 0.18 0.18 0.19 0.19

Enterprises and individuals thal directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, centrol, or are controlied by,
or are under common control with, the Company, inciuding holding companies, subsidiaries, and fellow subsidiaries,
are related parties of the Company. Associates and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting
power of the Company that gives them significant influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, including
directors and officers of the Company and close members of the family of these individuals and companies associated
with these individuals, also constitute related parties.

In considering each possible related party relationship, aitention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and
not merely the legal form.

The major shareholder of the Company is Interlink Communication Public Company Limited, holding 60% of the Company's
shares.

The significant related party transactions are as follows:

32.1 Revenue from services

Equity Method Separate
finangial statements financial statements
For the years ended 31 December 2020 2019 2020 2019
Baht Baht Baht Baht

Revenue from services
- Parent company 3,264,000 2,670,000 3,264,000 2,670,000
- Joint venture 96,000 96,000 96,000 96,000

Other income

- Parent company 48,049 135,664 48,049 135,664
- Joint venture 7.276,500 6,930,000 7,276,500 6,930,000
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32.2 Purchases of goods

For the years ended 31 December
Purchases of goods
- Parent company

32.3 Other expenses

For the years ended 31 December

Rental expenses
- Parent company

Service expenses
- Parent company

Administrative expenses
- Parent company
- Direclors

32.4 Trade receivables and trade payables - related parties

As at 31 December

Trade receivables
- Parent company
- Joint venture

Trade payables
- Parent company
- Join{ venture

32.5 -Amount due from and amount due to related parties

As at 31 December

Other receivables
- Parent company
- Joint venture

Other payables
- Parent company
- Directors

Equity Method Separate

financial statements financlal statements

2020 2018 2020 2019
Baht Baht Baht Baht
7,635,046 27,067,727 7,635,046 27,067,727
Equity Method Separate

financial statements financial statements

2020 2019 2020 2019
Baht Baht Baht Baht
12,265,262 9,946,597 12,265,262 9,046,597
9,515,063 9,009,081 9,515,063 9,009,081
7,380,988 10,343,540 7,390,988 10,343,540
2,844,000 2,825,795 2,844,000 2,825,795
Equity Method Separate

financial statements financial statements

2020 2019 2020 2019
Baht Baht Baht Baht
2,084,808 2,045,166 2,084,808 2,045,166
8,560 8,560 8,560 8,560
4,607,010 11,514,484 4,607,010 11,514,484
3,261,910 5,490,812 3,261,910 5,490,812
Equity Method Separate

financial statements financial statements

2020 2019 2020 2019
Baht Baht Baht Baht
728,654 936,233 728,654 636,233
1,297,643 1,943,655 1,297,643 1,943,655
9,481,054 9,167,060 9,481,054 9,167,060
732,000 713,795 732,000 713,795
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32.6 Short-term borrowings to a joint venture

32.7

331

33.2

33.3

Equity Method Separate
financial statements financial statements
As at 31 December 2020 2019 2020 2019
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Short-term botrowings to a joint

venture 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 -

Key management compensation
Equity Method Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the years ended 31 December 2020 2019 2020 2019
Ba_ht Baht _ Bzaht Baht
Short-term benefits 21,760,473 23,480,031 21,760,473 23,480,031
Post benefits 340,811 329,589 340,811 329,589
22,101,284 23,809,620 22 101,284 23,809,620

Financial institution guarantees

As at 31 December 2020, there were outstanding guarantees issued by the financial institution on behaif of the
Company of Baht 674.82 million (2019: Baht 655.33 million) in respect of certain performance obligations
required in the normal course of business of the Company.

Service contracts

The Company has entered into several services contracts, The lerms of the contracts are generally between 1
and 30 years, which future minimum lease payments required under these non-cancellable service contracts
are as follows:

Equity Method and Separate
financial statements
{Unit : Miliion Baht}

As at 31 December 2020 2019
Payment within:
- Within 1 year 237.47 327.50
-1 to 8 years 320.90 418.66
- More than 5 years 353.78 179.04
Litigation

A subcontractor (the "Plaintiff') of the Company filed a claim against the Company on the basis that the Company has
defaulted on an installation fiber optic agreement. The Plaintiff claimed for the total amount of Baht 1,161,279
which Included principal amount of Baht 975,097 plus interest of Baht 186,182. The Company also filed a statement
of defence and counter-claim for the total amount of Baht 692,657, The Court of First Instance ordered the
Plaintiff to pay the Company Baht 265,744 plus interest of 7.5% per annum from 24 May 2016 until the payment
is fully made. As at 24 February 2021, a statement of defence and counter-claim are currently in the process of
identifying assets of the judgement debtor for legal execution.
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